

COURT FILE NUMBER

2401-05179

COURT OF KING'S BENCH OF ALBERTA

JUDICIAL CENTRE CALGARY

PROCEEDING

COURT

IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, RSC 1985, c. C-36, as amended

AND IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF ALPHABOW ENERGY LTD.

DOCUMENT

THIRD REPORT OF THE MONITOR

**SEPTEMBER 13, 2024** 

ADDRESS FOR SERVICE AND CONTACT INFORMATION OF PARTY FILING THIS DOCUMENT

MONITOR

KSV Restructuring Inc. 324-8<sup>th</sup> Avenue SW, Suite 1165 Calgary, AB T2P 2Z2

Attention:Andrew Basi/Ross GrahamTelephone:(587) 287-2670/(587) 287-2750Facsimile:(416) 932-6266Email:abasi@ksvadvisory.comrgraham@ksvadvisory.com

#### **MONITOR'S COUNSEL**

Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP 888 3<sup>rd</sup> Street SW, Suite 3810 Calgary, AB T2P 5C5

Attention:Jeffrey OliverTelephone:(403) 351-2921E-Mail:joliver@cassels.com

#### Contents

1.0	Introduction	1
2.0	Activities of the Company and the Monitor	5
3.0	Cash Flow Statement	7
4.0	Update on the Sale and Investment Solicitation Process (SISP)	8
5.0	Cenovus Transaction	9
6.0	Claims Process	12
6.1	Notice to Creditors	12
6.2	Filing a Proof of Claim	13
6.3	Determination of Claims	13
6.4	Claims Process Recommendation	14
7.0	Other matters	15
7.1	Company's Request for an Extension	15
7.2	Sealing	15
8.0	Conclusion and Recommendation	16

Page

# Appendix Tab Fourth Cash Flow Statement and Management's Report thereon A Fifth Cash Flow Statement and Management's Report thereon B Monitor's Report on the Fifth Cash Flow Statement C SISP Order D

## Confidential AppendixTabSales Agent SISP Summary1Unredacted Cenovus Purchase and Sale Agreement2

#### **1.0 Introduction**

- On March 28, 2024 (the "Filing Date"), Alphabow Energy Ltd. ("Alphabow", the "Company", or the "Applicant") filed a Notice of Intention to Make a Proposal ("NOI"), pursuant to Section 50.4(1) of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act*, R.S.C. 1985, c. B-3, as amended (the "BIA") (the "NOI Proceeding"). KSV Restructuring Inc. ("KSV") consented to act as proposal trustee (the "Proposal Trustee") in the NOI Proceedings.
- 2. On April 26, 2024, the Applicant sought and obtained an initial order (the "Initial Order") from the Court of Kings' Bench of Alberta (the "Court") granting, among other things, a continuation of the NOI Proceedings under the *Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act,* R.S.C. 1985, c C-36, as amended (the "CCAA") (the "CCAA Proceeding"). This report (the "Third Report") is filed by KSV in its capacity as monitor (the "Monitor") in the CCAA Proceeding.
- The Initial Order granted, among other things, the following relief within the CCAA Proceeding:
  - a) declaring the NOI Proceeding previously filed by the Applicant is taken up and continued under the CCAA, pursuant to section 11.6(a) of the CCAA;
  - b) terminating the NOI Proceeding;
  - c) granting a stay of all proceedings, rights, and remedies against or in respect of the Applicant until May 6, 2024 (the "Stay Period"); and
  - d) granting a charge to not exceed \$100,000 as security for the fees and disbursements of the Monitor, the Monitor's counsel, Cassels Brock & Blackwell LLP ("Cassels"), and the Applicant's counsel, Bennett Jones LLP ("Bennett Jones") (the "Administration Charge"), against the Applicant's current and future assets, undertakings and properties of every nature and kind whatsoever (including all real and personal property), and wherever situated, including all proceeds thereof (collectively the "Property").

- 4. Further on April 26, 2024, the Court granted the Applicant's application for an amended Initial Order (the "**Amended and Restated Initial Order**") which included, amongst other matters, the following relief:
  - a) extending the Stay Period to, and including, July 31, 2024; and
  - b) increasing the quantum of the Administration Charge to \$500,000.
- 5. In addition, on April 26, 2024, the Court granted the Applicant's application for a sale and investment solicitation process order (the "**SISP Order**") which includes, amongst other matters, the following relief:
  - a) approval of a sale and investment solicitation process ("SISP");
  - b) authorizing the Monitor and Sayer Energy Advisors ("Sayer") to conduct the SISP;
  - appointing Sayer as the sales agent ("Sales Agent") in accordance with the SISP and approving the engagement agreement between the Applicant and Sayer; and
  - d) authorizing the continued marketing and sale of the Company's carbon credits through Strom Futures Inc., or such further broker as the Monitor shall approve.
- 6. Finally, on April 26, 2024, the Court approved the Applicant's application for a sale approval and vesting order approving the sale transaction (the "Cascade Transaction") pursuant to the purchase and sale agreement dated April 15, 2024, between AlphaBow and Cascade Capture Ltd. The Cascade Transaction subsequently closed on May 8, 2024.
- On July 23, 2024, the Court granted an extension to the Stay Period to August 31, 2024. The Stay Period was then subsequently extended to September 30, 2024, by an order issued by this Court on August 27, 2024.

#### 1.1 Purposes of this Third Report

- 1. This Third Report is intended to provide the Court with further information related to the relief sought by the Company in its application scheduled for hearing on September 20, 2024. This Third Report specifically provides information regarding:
  - a) the Monitor's activities since the Monitor's second report dated August 22, 2024 (the "Second Report");
  - b) the Company's activities since the Second Report;
  - c) the Monitor's comments and report on the Company's actual performance to date versus the cash flow forecast commencing on August 19, 2024 and ending September 30, 2024 (the "Fourth Cash Flow Statement");
  - d) the Monitor's comments and report on the Company's cash flow statement for the period commencing on September 9, 2024 and ending November 3, 2024 (the "Fifth Cash Flow Statement");
  - e) an update on the SISP;
  - f) Alphabow's application for a sale approval and vesting order (the "SAVO") approving a sale transaction (the "Cenovus Transaction") pursuant to the purchase and sale agreement dated September 4, 2024, between AlphaBow and Cenovus Energy Inc. ("Cenovus");
  - g) Alphabow's application for an order (the "Claims Process Order") authorizing AlphaBow to undertake a claims process for the purpose of ascertaining the quantum of cure costs associated with certain assets included as part of the SISP (the "Claims Process");
  - h) AlphaBow's application for an Order (the "**Third Extension Order**"), which amongst other things:
    - i. extends the Stay Period to, and including, October 31, 2024; and
    - ii. an order sealing the confidential documents described herein; and
  - i) the Monitor's comments and recommendations.

#### **1.2 Scope and Terms of Reference**

- 1. In preparing this Third Report, the Monitor has relied upon the Applicant's unaudited financial information, books and records, information available in the public domain and discussions with the Applicant's management and legal counsel.
- 2. The Monitor has not audited or otherwise attempted to verify the accuracy or completeness of the financial information relied on to prepare this Third Report in a manner that complies with Canadian Auditing Standards ("**CAS**") pursuant to the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada Handbook and, accordingly, the Monitor expresses no opinion or other form of assurance contemplated under the CAS in respect of such information. Any party wishing to place reliance on the financial information should perform its own due diligence.
- 3. An examination of the Fifth Cash Flow Statement as outlined in the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada Handbook has not been performed. Futureoriented financial information relied upon in this Third Report is based upon the Applicant's assumptions regarding future events; actual results achieved may vary from this information, and these variations may be material. The Monitor does not express any opinion or other form of assurance on whether the Fifth Cash Flow Statement will be achieved.
- 4. This Third Report should be read in conjunction with the materials filed by the Applicant, including the First Li Affidavit, sworn April 15, 2024, the Supplement to the First Li Affidavit, sworn April 24, 2024, the Second Li Affidavit, sworn July 15, 2024, the Third Li Affidavit, sworn August 15, 2024, the Fourth Li Affidavit, sworn September 9, 2024, and any supplement affidavit filed by the Applicant prior to the September 20, 2024 hearing (the "Li Affidavits"). Capitalized terms not defined in this Third Report have the meanings ascribed to them in the Li Affidavits.

#### 1.3 Currency

1. Unless otherwise noted, all currency references in this Third Report are in Canadian dollars.

#### 1.4 Court Materials

 Court materials filed in these proceedings are made available by KSV on its case website at <u>www.ksvadvisory.com/experience/case/alphabow</u> (the "Case Website").

#### 2.0 Activities of the Company and the Monitor

#### 2.1 Activities of the Monitor

- 1. Since the Second Report, the Monitor has performed the following key activities:
  - a) attending ongoing meetings with management and the Sales Agent to discuss the SISP and the Claims Process;
  - b) assisting the Company with its communications to both internal and external stakeholders;
  - c) monitoring the affairs of the Company's business including reviewing financial information with management;
  - d) assisting the Company in preparing the Fifth Cash Flow Statement;
  - corresponding and holding numerous discussions with the Applicant, Bennett Jones, and Cassels with respect to general matters and specific matters related to the SISP and Claims Process;
  - f) reviewing the Cenovus Purchase and Sale Agreement (defined below);
  - assisting the Company and the Sales Agent in responding to due diligence questions raised by prospective bidders in the second phase of the SISP and assisting with coordinating various asset site visits;
  - h) reviewing bids received following the Phase 2 Bid Deadline (defined below);
  - corresponding and holding discussions with various stakeholders, and/or respective legal counsel to stakeholders, including the Alberta Energy Regulator and the Orphan Well Association;
  - j) maintaining the Case Website; and
  - k) preparing this Third Report.

#### 2.2 Activities of the Company

- The Monitor has observed certain key activities of the Company since the Second Report, including:
  - a) communicating with various stakeholders and creditors regarding the CCAA Proceedings, in consultation with the Monitor;
  - b) assisting the Sales Agent in conducting the SISP;
  - c) with the assistance of the Monitor, responding to various questions by vendors;
  - d) corresponding with Bennett Jones and the Monitor;
  - e) communicating on an ongoing basis with certain creditors and/or their advisors;
  - reporting to the Monitor on a weekly basis in respect of the Company's receipts and disbursements;
  - g) working with the Monitor in preparing the Fifth Cash Flow Statement;
  - with assistance from Bennett Jones, negotiating and entering into the Cenovus
     Purchase and Sale Agreement;
  - attending ongoing meetings with the Monitor, Cassels and Bennett Jones to discuss the SISP and the Claims Process;
  - assisting the Company and the Sales Agent in responding to due diligence questions and site visit requests from prospective bidders during the second phase of the SISP;
  - k) coordinating and attending site visits scheduled with SISP participants;
  - working with Rothmans Energy Inc. to resolve certain crown lease transfers which were purchased prior to the commencement of the NOI Proceeding; and
  - m) working with its legal counsel and the Monitor to prepare materials for the application to be heard on September 20, 2024.

#### 3.0 Cash Flow Statement

 At the time of the Second Report, the Applicant, with assistance from the Monitor, prepared the Fourth Cash Flow Statement for the period August 19, 2024, to September 30, 2024. The Fourth Cash Flow Statement and the Applicant's statutory report pursuant to section 10(20)(b) of the CCAA is attached hereto as Appendix "A".

#### 3.1 Performance Against the Fourth Cash Flow Statement

- 1. The Monitor has continued to review and evaluate the state of the Applicant's business and financial affairs since the Second Report.
- A review process was established with the Company to review weekly cash variances. A comparison of the Applicant's actual receipts and disbursements to the Fourth Cash Flow Statement for the period from the August 19, 2024 to September 8, 2024 (the "Post Filing Reporting Period") is as follows:

Post Filing Reporting Period (\$CAD)	Actual	Fourth Cash Flow Statements	Favourable / (Unfavourable) Variance
Opening Cash balance	365,395	365,395	-
Receipts	29,314	17,000	12,314
Operating Disbursements	(73,443)	(95,000)	21,557
Net Cash Flow from Operations	(46,280)	(78,000)	31,720
Non-operating disbursements	(110,692)	(151,607)	40,915
Net Cash Flow	(111,289)	(229,607)	
Closing cash balance	210,576	135,788	

#### Monitor's Comments

3. For the Post Filing Reporting Period, the Company's actual cash receipts were more than forecasted as a result of higher than projected non-operating working interest revenues. Operating disbursements were primarily lower due to software expense savings. Non-operating disbursements were lower in the Post Filing Report Period due to timing of professional fees.

4. The Applicant has remained current in respect of its obligations that have arisen since the Filing Date except for amounts it intends to cure at the conclusion of the SISP, including: (i) amounts owed to the Orphan Well Association for care and custody activities; and (ii) certain post-filing amounts that include property tax, mineral and surface lease costs and other accruing costs.

#### 3.2 The Fifth Cash Flow Statement

- 1. The Applicant prepared the Fifth Cash Flow Statement, which is largely consistent with the Fourth Cash Flow Statement except for the time period covered and revisions on the timing of certain payments.
- The Fifth Cash Flow Statement and the Applicant's statutory report on the cash flow pursuant to Section 10(2)(b) of the CCAA is attached as **Appendix "B"**.
- 3. The Fifth Cash Flow Statement reflects that the Applicant has sufficient liquidity for the duration of the Stay Period.
- Based on the Monitor's review of the Fifth Cash Flow Statement, the assumptions contained therein appear reasonable. The Monitor's statutory report on the Fifth Cash Flow Statement is attached as Appendix "C".

#### 4.0 Update on the Sale and Investment Solicitation Process (SISP)<sup>1</sup>

- As discussed in greater detail in the First Report, the Monitor and the Sales Agent concluded the first phase of the SISP after having received 75 offers, submitted by 58 interested parties (the "Interested Parties"). Following a review of the first phase offers, the Sales Agent launched the second phase of the SISP on, or about, July 25, 2024. The second phase of the SISP was carried out in accordance with the SISP Order, a copy of which is included in Appendix "D".
- To allow the Interested Parties sufficient time to conduct their remaining due diligence matters, the Monitor and the Sales Agent extended the bid deadline to 12:00 p.m. (Calgary time) on September 5, 2024 (the "Phase 2 Bid Deadline").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Capitalized terms in this section have the meaning provided to them in the SISP, unless otherwise defined herein.

#### 4.1 Second SISP Phase Results

- 1. A summary of the results of the second phase of the SISP is below. 44 Interested Parties who submitted a qualified bid during the first phase of the SISP were invited to conduct due diligence and submit a binding bid by the Phase 2 Bid Deadline. To assist with several due diligence requests, the Applicant set up a physical data room at its head office to facilitate the review of certain physical well file copies. Additionally, a significant number of these Interested Parties conducted site visits at various assets throughout the province.
- As at the Phase 2 Bid Deadline, a total of 40 Interested Parties submitted 49 offers or proposals (the "Bids"). The Sales Agent's summary of the SISP activities and the offers received to date (the "Sales Agent SISP Summary") is attached as Confidential Appendix "1".
- 3. At the time of this Third Report, the Applicant, the Monitor, and the Sales Agent were engaged in discussions to determine which Bids were viable and worth pursuing further. The Monitor expects the Applicant to return to Court in the near term to summarize the results of those discussions and seek approval of certain transactions for non-operating working interest assets (the "Non-Operating Working Interest Transactions").

#### 5.0 Cenovus Transaction<sup>2</sup>

 On September 4, 2024, the Applicant and Cenovus entered into a purchase and sale agreement whereby Cenovus will purchase the Company's rights, title, and 100% working interest in the lands located at Twp 52 Rge 7 W4M NE Sec 9 and the associated Petroleum and Natural Gas Rights (the "Cenovus Purchase and Sale Agreement"). A copy of the redacted Cenovus Purchase and Sale Agreement is attached as Exhibit "A" to the Fourth Li Affidavit. An unredacted copy of the Cenovus Purchase and Sale Agreement is attached as Confidential Appendix "2".

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Capitalized terms in this section have the meaning provided to them in the Cenovus Purchase and Sale Agreement unless otherwise defined herein.

- 2. The key terms and conditions of the Cenovus Purchase and Sale Agreement are provided below:
  - Seller: AlphaBow
  - **Buyer**: Cenovus Energy Inc.
  - <u>Assumed Liabilities</u>: all liabilities and obligations arising from the possession, ownership and/or use of the Assets following Closing (including for greater certainty any municipal or property taxes that accrue commencing on the Closing Date), along with Environmental Liabilities, Abandonment and Reclamation Obligations and Cure Costs
  - <u>Assets</u>: 100% working interest in the lands located at Twp 52 Rge 7 W4M NE Sec 9 and the associated Petroleum and Natural Gas Rights, the Tangibles, and the Miscellaneous Interest
  - <u>**Representations and Warranties**</u>: Consistent with the terms of a standard insolvency transaction (i.e., on an "as is, where is" basis, with limited representations and warranties)
  - <u>Material Conditions</u>: include, among other things, the Court's granting of the Approval and Vesting Order
  - Outside Date: 90 days following the date the Cenovus Purchase and Sale
     Agreement was executed
  - <u>Closing</u>: five business days following the execution of the Cenovus Purchase and Sale Agreement
- 3. In determining its recommendation to this Court, the Monitor considered whether the Cenovus Transaction met the factors prescribed by s. 36(3) of the CCAA and the "Soundair" principles established by this Court from *Royal Bank of Canada v. Soundair Corp. (1991), 4 O.R. (3d) 1 (CA), at para. 16.* The factors of s.36(3), and the Monitor's responding comments, are listed below:
  - a) Whether the process leading to the proposed sale or disposition was reasonable in the circumstance.

The assets included in the Cenovus Purchase and Sale Agreement were actively marketed as part of the SISP. The Applicant has determined Cenovus' bid submitted prior to the Phase 2 Bid Deadline is the highest and best offer for the purchased assets.

b) Whether the Monitor approved the process leading to the Proposed sale or disposition.

The Court approved the SISP, which was recommended by the Monitor.

c) Whether the monitor filed with the court a report stating that in their opinion the sale or disposition would be more beneficial to the creditors than a sale or disposition under a bankruptcy.

This Third Report reflects the Monitor's views of the Cenovus Transaction. The Monitor supports the Cenovus Transaction as its structure is practical, costeffective, and consistent with other similar transactions, while providing economic benefit to the Applicant's CCAA Proceeding and, thereby, its stakeholders.

d) The extent to which the creditors were consulted.

The Cenovus Transaction resulted from the Court approved SISP. There is no indication that the process leading to the Cenovus Transaction was unfair, and the Monitor is not aware of any creditor objections.

e) The effects of the proposed sale or disposition on the creditors and other interested parties.

If successful, the Cenovus Transaction will provide proceeds to assist in funding the CCAA Proceeding through to the conclusion of the SISP, which will benefit all stakeholders.

f) Whether the consideration to be received for the assets is reasonable and fair, taking into account their market value.

As mentioned above, the Cenovus Transaction resulted from the Court approved SISP, which tested the broader market and remains the highest and best transaction value for the assets. 4. Based on the foregoing, the Monitor recommends this Court approve the Cenovus Transaction for the benefit of funding this CCAA Proceeding.

#### 6.0 Claims Process<sup>3</sup>

- 1. During the second phase of the SISP, several Interested Parties made inquiries to the Sales Agent, the Monitor and Alphabow about the quantum of cure costs associated with certain of the Company's assets. Additionally, certain Bids received include a provision for either a purchase price adjustment related to cure costs or a condition related to the quantification of cure costs. In order for AlphaBow to accurately respond to these inquiries, the Company, in consultation with the Monitor, has developed the Claims Process to solicit and determine any and all Claims, as defined in the proposed Claims Process Order and described below. The Monitor views the Alphabow internal accounting records with respect to Claims to be incomplete and out of date as a result of the length of time that Alphabow has not been conducting operations.
- 2. The key terms and provisions of the Claims Process are summarized in the following sections of this Third Report.

#### 6.1 Notice to Creditors

- The Monitor shall send a Claims Package to each Known Claimant and post a copy of the Claims Process Order and Claims Package on the Case Website, as soon as reasonably practicable following the granting of the Claims Process Order.
- 2. The Monitor will work with the Company to ensure that the list of known creditors includes:
  - a) all creditors according to the Company's books and records;
  - any party that commenced a legal proceeding against the Company, including their directors and officers, provided that the Monitor has notice of such legal proceeding; and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Capitalized terms in this section have the meaning provided to them in the Claims Process Order unless otherwise defined herein.

- c) any party who has contacted the Monitor during the NOI Proceeding about amounts that may be owing to them by the Company and/or the process in which they may file a claim.
- The Monitor shall also post a Notice to Claimant once in the Daily Oil Bulletin, informing the public of the Claims Process as soon as practicable following the granting of the Claims Process Order.

#### 6.2 Filing a Proof of Claim

- Any claimant that intends to file a Proof of Claim is required to deliver the same to the Monitor on or before 5 P.M. (Calgary Time), October 23, 2024 (the "Claims Bar Date"), being approximately 35 days from the granting of the proposed Claims Process Order.
- 2. Any claimant that does not file a Proof of Claim prior to the Claims Bar Date, shall: (i) not be entitled to participate as a Claimant or creditor in the CCAA Proceeding; (ii) not attend or vote at a meeting in respect of such Claim; (iii) not be entitled to receive any distribution in respect of such Claim pursuant to a Plan or otherwise; and (iv) be forever extinguished and barred from making or enforcing any Claim.

#### 6.3 Determination of Claims

- 1. The proposed Claims Process Order provides that the Monitor, in consultation with the Company, to the extent necessary for the completion of a transaction or distribution of proceeds, shall review all applicable Proofs of Claim received on or before the Claims Bar Date, and shall accept, revise or reject each Claim set out therein for purposes of quantifying asset cure costs or determining distribution.
- If the Monitor intends to revise or reject a Proof of Claim filed in accordance with the Claims Process Order, the Monitor shall send a Notice of Revision or Disallowance ("NORD") to the Claimant.

- 3. Any Creditor who disputes the NORD shall deliver a Notice of Dispute of Revision to the Monitor by 5:00 P.M. (Calgary Time) on the day which is 14 calendar days after the date on which the creditor is deemed to have received the NORD. Should the Creditor fail to deliver a Notice of Dispute of Revision by that date, the Claimant shall be deemed to accept the nature and amount of its Claim as such Claim is set out in the NORD.
- 4. If the Monitor is unable to resolve the dispute regarding any claim, the Claimant must, within 5 days of delivering such Notice of Dispute of Revision, file an application with the Court seeking determination of the Claim. Any Claimant who fails to file an application in accordance with the dispute process outlined within the Claims Process Order shall be deemed to accept the nature and amount of its Claim as such Claim is set out in the NORD.

#### 6.4 Claims Process Recommendation

- 1. The Monitor believes the Claims Process is reasonable and appropriate for the following reasons:
  - a) the administration of a Claims Process is necessary for the Company to quantify the cure costs associated with certain of its assets included in the SISP and for which Bids have been received from certain Interested Parties;
  - b) quantification of the Claims will assist the Company in either developing a plan of arrangement or working with a bidder on a reverse vesting order transaction;
  - c) the proposed notices, dispute resolution provisions and timelines set out in the Claims Process Order are consistent with those typically approved by this Court and, in the Monitor's view, allow a reasonable time and process for the identification of Claims; and
  - d) in the Monitor's view, the Claims Bar Date provides for sufficient time for Claimants to file a Proof of Claim (as applicable) with the Monitor.

#### 7.0 Other matters

#### 7.1 Company's Request for an Extension

- The Applicant is seeking an extension of the stay of proceedings from September 30, 2024 to October 31, 2024. The Monitor supports the extension request for the following reasons:
  - a) the Applicant is acting in good faith and with due diligence;
  - b) the extension will provide additional time to the Applicant to perform critical activities, including: (i) conducting the Claims Process; (ii) closing the Cenovus Transaction; (iii) negotiating the Non-operating Working Interest Transactions; and (iv) reviewing the viability of the remaining Bids; and
  - c) the extension should not adversely affect or prejudice any group of creditors as the Applicant is projected to have funding to pay post-filing services and suppliers in the amounts contemplated by the Fifth Cash Flow Forecast.

#### 7.2 Sealing

- 1. The Applicant is requesting a sealing order (the "Sealing Order") in respect of the Sales Agent SISP Summary and the unredacted Cenovus Purchase and Sale Agreement (collectively, the "Confidential Documents"). The Monitor believes it is appropriate to seal the Confidential Documents until further order of the Court, as the sealing of the Confidential Documents will ensure that the integrity of the SISP is maintained and that there is minimal impact on any bidder in the SISP through to its conclusion.
- 2. Based on the foregoing, the Monitor does not believe that any stakeholder will be prejudiced if the information in the Confidential Documents is sealed.
- 3. The Sealing Order permits any party to vacate or vary the terms of the Sealing Order on at least seven days' notice to the Monitor and any affected party.

#### 8.0 Conclusion and Recommendation

1. Based on the foregoing, the Monitor respectfully recommend that this Honourable Court grant the relief sought by the Applicant.

\* \* \*

All of which is respectfully submitted,

KSV Bestructuring Inc.

KSV RESTRUCTURING INC., in its capacity as Monitor of AlphaBow Energy Ltd. and not in its personal capacity

### Appendix "A"

#### AlphaBow Energy Ltd. Cash Flow Forecast August 19, 2024 to September 30, 2024 (Unaudited: C\$000s)

	Period ending							
	Note	25-Aug-24	01-Sep-24	08-Sep-24	15-Sep-24	22-Sep-24	30-Sep-24	Total
	1							
Receipts								
Collection of Accounts Receivable	2	-	17	-	-	-	17	34
Asset sales	3	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total Receipts		-	17	-	-	-	17	34
Disbursements								
Care and Custody Costs	4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Software	5	-	25	-	-	-	25	50
Contractors	6	-	70	-	-	-	70	140
Rent	7	-	3	-	-	-	3	6
Other operating disbursements	8	-	19	-	-	-	-	19
Total Operating disbursements		-	98	-	-	-	98	196
Net Cash Flow before the Undernoted		-	(81)	-	-	-	(81)	(162
Professional Fees	9	74	75	-	-	-	-	149
Net Cash Flow		(74)	(156)	-	-	-	(81)	(311
Opening Cash balance	10	365	291	136	136	136	136	365
Net Cash Flow		(74)	(156)	-	-	-	(81)	(311
Closing cash balance		291	136	136	136	136	55	55

The above financial projections are based on management's assumptions detailed in Appendix "1-1". The note references correspond to the assumption numbers shown in Appendix "1-1".

#### Purpose and General Assumptions

1. The purpose of the projection is to present a forecast of the cash flow of AlphaBow Energy Ltd. (the "Applicant") for the period August 19 to September 30, 2024 (the "Period").

#### Hypothetical

- 2. Cash collections include funds received from monthly collection of revenues earned by Alphabow's non-operating working interest partners. Crown royalty and excise taxes refunds are currently owed and undocumented in the cash flow as timing and collectability is uncertain.
- 3. It is anticipated Alphabow will return to Court to seek approval for certain asset sales, however, given their uncertainty with respect to timing and amount, asset sales have been undocumented in the cash flow.

#### Most Probable

- 4. The cash flow assumes payments made to the Orphan Well Association for post-filing care and custody costs will be paid subsequent to further asset sales. As the timing and amount of any assets sales is uncertain, post-filing care and custody costs are currently undocumented in the cash flow.
- 5. Software licensing fees for necessary services including the Applicant's accounting system.
- 6. Contractor costs incurred monthly for the Applicant's personnel.
- 7. Rent reflects monthly occupancy for a leased space.
- 8. Includes amounts owed for certain document storage arrangements.
- 9. Includes the estimated payments to the Applicant's legal counsel, the Monitor, and the Monitor's legal counsel.
- 10. Opening cash reflected as of August 16, 2024.

#### IN THE COURT OF KING'S BENCH OF ALBERTA

#### IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED

#### AND IN THE MATTER OF ALPHABOW ENERGY LTD.

#### MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON THE FOURTH CASH FLOW STATEMENT (paragraph 23(1)(b) of the CCAA)

The management of Alphabow Energy Ltd. (the "**Applicant**") has developed the assumptions and prepared the attached statement of projected cash flow as of the 20th day of August, 2024 for the period August 19, 2024 to September 30, 2024 ("**Fourth Cash Flow Statement**"). All such assumptions are disclosed in the notes to the Fourth Cash Flow Statement.

The hypothetical assumptions are suitably supported and consistent with the purpose of the Fourth Cash Flow Statement as described in Note 1 to the Fourth Cash Flow Statement, and the probable assumptions are suitably supported and consistent with the plans of the Applicant and provide a reasonable basis for the Fourth Cash Flow Statement.

Since the Fourth Cash Flow Statement is based on assumptions regarding future events, actual results will vary from the information presented and the variations may be material.

The Fourth Cash Flow Statement has been prepared solely for the purpose outlined in Note 1 using a set of probable assumptions set out therein. Consequently, readers are cautioned that the Fourth Cash Flow Statement may not be appropriate for other purposes.

Dated at Calgary, AB this 20th day of August, 2024.

#### ALPHABOW ENERGY LTD.

songsong Li

Per: Ben Li

Appendix "B"

#### AlphaBow Energy Ltd. **Cash Flow Forecast** September 9, 2024 to November 3, 2024 (Unaudited; C\$000s)

	Period ending									
	Note	15-Sep-24	22-Sep-24	29-Sep-24	06-Oct-24	13-Oct-24	20-Oct-24	27-Oct-24	03-Nov-24	Total
	1									
Receipts										
Collection of Accounts Receivable	2	-	-	-	17	-	-	-	17	34
Asset sales	3	-	-	-	180	-	-	-	1,000	1,180
Total Receipts		-	-	-	197	-	-	-	1,017	1,214
Disbursements										
Care and Custody Costs	4	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	400	400
Software	5	-	-	-	25	-	-	-	25	50
Contractors	6	-	-	-	70	-	-	-	70	140
Rent	7	-	-	-	3	-	-	-	3	5
Total Operating disbursements		-	-	-	98	-	-	-	498	595
Net Cash Flow before the Undernoted		-	-	-	100	-	-	-	520	619
Professional Fees	8	128	-	-	100	-	-	-	125	353
Net Cash Flow		(128)	-	-	(1)	-	-	-	395	266
Opening Cash balance	9	234	106	106	106	105	105	105	105	234
Net Cash Flow	· ·	(128)	-	-	(1)	-	-	-	395	266
Closing cash balance		106	106	106	105	105	105	105	500	500

The above financial projections are based on management's assumptions detailed in Appendix "1-1". The note references correspond to the assumption numbers shown in Appendix "1-1".

#### Purpose and General Assumptions

1. The purpose of the projection is to present a forecast of the cash flow of AlphaBow Energy Ltd. (the "Applicant") for the period September 9 to November 3, 2024 (the "Period").

#### Hypothetical

- 2. Cash collections include funds received from monthly collection of revenues earned by Alphabow's non-operating working interest partners. Crown royalty and excise taxes refunds are currently owed and undocumented in the cash flow as timing and collectability is uncertain.
- 3. Asset sales reflect the sale proceeds from the Cenovus Transaction and other transactions the Applicants expects to return to Court for approval prior to November 1, 2024. For purposes of the sealing order, the full Cenovus Transaction value is not disclosed in this cash flow.

#### Most Probable

- 4. The cash flow assumes payments made to the Orphan Well Association for post-filing care and custody costs will be paid subsequent to further asset sales. As the timing and amount of any assets sales is uncertain, post-filing care and custody costs are currently estimated in the cash flow at \$400,000.
- 5. Software licensing fees for necessary services including the Applicant's accounting system.
- 6. Contractor costs incurred monthly for the Applicant's personnel.
- 7. Rent reflects monthly occupancy for a leased space.
- 8. Includes the estimated payments to the Applicant's legal counsel, the Monitor, and the Monitor's legal counsel.
- 9. Opening cash reflected as of September 12, 2024.

#### IN THE COURT OF KING'S BENCH OF ALBERTA

#### IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED

#### AND IN THE MATTER OF ALPHABOW ENERGY LTD.

#### MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON THE FIFTH CASH FLOW STATEMENT (paragraph 23(1)(b) of the CCAA)

The management of Alphabow Energy Ltd. (the "**Applicant**") has developed the assumptions and prepared the attached statement of projected cash flow as of the 12th day of September, 2024 for the period September 9, 2024 to November 3, 2024 ("**Fifth Cash Flow Statement**"). All such assumptions are disclosed in the notes to the Fifth Cash Flow Statement.

The hypothetical assumptions are suitably supported and consistent with the purpose of the Fifth Cash Flow Statement as described in Note 1 to the Fifth Cash Flow Statement, and the probable assumptions are suitably supported and consistent with the plans of the Applicant and provide a reasonable basis for the Fifth Cash Flow Statement.

Since the Fifth Cash Flow Statement is based on assumptions regarding future events, actual results will vary from the information presented and the variations may be material.

The Fifth Cash Flow Statement has been prepared solely for the purpose outlined in Note 1 using a set of probable assumptions set out therein. Consequently, readers are cautioned that the Fifth Cash Flow Statement may not be appropriate for other purposes.

Dated at Calgary, AB this 12th day of September, 2024.

#### ALPHABOW ENERGY LTD.

songsong Li

Per: Ben Li

Appendix "C"

#### IN THE COURT OF THE KING'S BENCH OF ALBERTA

#### IN THE MATTER OF THE COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, AS AMENDED

#### AND IN THE MATTER OF ALPHABOW ENERGY LTD.

#### MONITOR'S REPORT ON THE FIFTH CASH FLOW STATEMENT (paragraph 23(1)(b) of the CCAA)

The attached statement of projected cash flow of Alphabow Energy Ltd. (the "**Applicant**") as of the 12th day September, 2024, consisting of a weekly projected fifth cash flow statement for the period September 9, 2024 to November 3, 2024 (the "**Fifth Cash Flow Statement**") has been prepared by the management of the Applicant for the purpose described in Note 1, using probable and hypothetical assumptions set out in the notes to the Fifth Cash Flow Statement.

Our review consisted of inquiries, analytical procedures and discussions related to information supplied by the management of the Applicant. We have reviewed the support provided by management for the probable and hypothetical assumptions and the preparation and presentation of the Fifth Cash Flow Statement.

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that, in all material respects:

- a) the hypothetical assumptions are not consistent with the purpose of the Fifth Cash Flow Statement;
- b) as at the date of this report, the probable assumptions developed by management are not suitably supported and consistent with the plans of the Applicant or do not provide a reasonable basis for the Fifth Cash Flow Statement, given the hypothetical assumptions; or
- c) the Fifth Cash Flow Statement does not reflect the probable and hypothetical assumptions.

Since the Fifth Cash Flow Statement is based on assumptions regarding future events, actual results will vary from the information presented, and the variations may be material. Accordingly, we express no assurance as to whether the Fifth Cash Flow Statement will be achieved. We express no opinion or other form of assurance with respect to the accuracy of any financial information presented in this report, or relied upon in preparing this report.

The Fifth Cash Flow Statement has been prepared solely for the purpose described in Note 1 and readers are cautioned that it may not be appropriate for other purposes.

Dated at Calgary, AB this 12th day of September, 2024.

KSV Restructuring Inc.

KSV RESTRUCTURING INC., solely in its capacity as the proposed monitor of Alphabow Energy Ltd.

Appendix "D"



COURT FILE NUMBER COURT JUDICIAL CENTRE OF 2401-05179

COURT OF KING'S BENCH OF ALBERTA

CALGARY

IN THE MATTER OF THE *COMPANIES' CREDITORS ARRANGEMENT ACT*, R.S.C. 1985, c. C-36, as amended

AND IN THE MATTER OF A PLAN OF COMPROMISE OR ARRANGEMENT OF ALPHABOW ENERGY LTD.

# DOCUMENT ORDER APPROVING SALE AND INVESTMENT SOLICITATION PROCESS & SEALING ORDER

ADDRESS FOR SERVICE AND CONTACT INFORMATION OF PARTY FILING THIS DOCUMENT: **BENNETT JONES LLP** Barristers and Solicitors 4500, 855 – 2nd Street S.W. Calgary, Alberta T2P 4K7

Attention: Keely Cameron/ Sarah Aaron Telephone No.: 403-298-3324/3177 Fax No.: 403-265-7219 Client File No.: 88323.6

### DATE ON WHICH ORDER WAS PRONOUNCED:

April 26, 2024

#### NAME OF JUDGE WHO MADE THIS ORDER:

The Honourable Justice M. J. Lema

**LOCATION OF HEARING:** 

Edmonton Law Courts 1A Sir Winston Churchill Square Edmonton, AB T5J 0R2 **UPON** the application of AlphaBow Energy Ltd. (the "**Applicant**" or "**AlphaBow**"); **AND UPON** having read the Application for an Amended and Restated Initial Order, the Affidavit of Ben Li sworn on April 15, 2024 (the "**Li Affidavit**"), the Affidavit of Service of Stephanie Dumoulin sworn April 25, 2024, First Report of the Proposal Trustee and Pre-Filing Report of the Proposed Monitor dated April 19, 2024 (the "**Pre-Filing Report**"); **AND UPON** hearing counsel for the Applicant, and any other interested parties appearing at the application;

#### IT IS HEREBY ORDERED AND DECLARED THAT:

1. The time for service of the notice of application for this order (the "**Order**") together with all supporting materials is hereby deemed good and sufficient and this application is properly returnable today.

#### APPROVAL OF SALE AND INVESTMENT SOLICITATION PROCESS

- Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the sales and investment solicitation process attached hereto as Appendix "A" ("SISP").
- 3. The SISP is approved. The Monitor and the Sales Agent (as defined below) are authorized and directed to perform their respective obligations and to do all things reasonably necessary to perform their obligations under the SISP.

#### SALES AGENT

- 4. Sayer Energy Advisors is appointed as Sales Agent to carry out the SISP in cooperation with the Monitor. The Engagement Letter as set out in the Confidential Appendix "H" to the Pre-Filing Report is approved.
- 5. Neither the Monitor nor the Sales Agent shall have any liability whatsoever to any person or party for any act or omission related to the SISP, except to the extent such act or omission is the result of gross negligent or wilful misconduct of the Monitor or Sales Advisor.

#### CARBON CREDIT MARKETING AND SALE

6. AlphaBow may continue to market and sell its carbon credits through STROM Futures, or such further broker as the Monitor shall approve.

#### **SEALING ORDER**

- 7. The Confidential Appendices"H", "I" and "J" to the Pre-Filing Report shall be sealed on the Court file and shall not form part of the public record.
- 8. AlphaBow is empowered and authorized, but not directed, to provide the Confidential Appendices or any portion thereof to any interested entity or person that it, along with the Monitor, considers reasonable in the circumstances, subject to confidentiality arrangements satisfactory to AlphaBow and the Monitor.
- 9. The Clerk of the Court shall file the Confidential Appendices in a sealed envelope attached to a notice that sets out the style of cause of these proceedings and states:

THIS ENVELOPE CONTAINS CONFIDENTIAL MATERIALS FILED IN COURT FILE NO. 2401-05179 PURSUANT TO THE SEALING ORDER ISSUED BY THE HONOURABLE JUSTICE M. J. LEMA ON APRIL 26, 2024.

- Confidential Appendices "I" and "J" shall become available for public inspections upon 10. conclusion of the sales process, unless and until an application is made to modify or vary this Order pursuant to paragraph 11 hereof.
- 11. Leave is hereby granted to any person, entity or party affected by this sealing order to apply to this Court for a further order vacating, substituting, modifying or varying the terms of this Order, with such application to be brought on not less than 7 days' notice to the Monitor and any other affected party pursuant to the Alberta Rules of Court, Alta Reg 124/2010 and this Order.

#### **MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS**

12. Service of this Order shall be deemed good and sufficient by serving the same by posting a of this Order Monitor's website copy the on at: www.ksvadvisory.com/experience/case/alphabow.

he Court of King's Bench

#### Appendix "A" SALE AND INVESTMENT SOLICITATION PROCESS AlphaBow Energy Ltd.

#### **INTRODUCTION**

On March 28, 2024, AlphaBow Energy Ltd. ("AlphaBow" or the "Company") filed with the Alberta Court of King's Bench (the "Court") and the Office of the Superintendent of Bankruptcy a Notice of Intention to make a Proposal under Part III of the *Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act*, 1985, c. B-3 (the "**BIA**").

On April [•], 2024, the Alberta Court of King's Bench (the "Court") granted an Initial Order (the "Initial Order") pursuant to the *Companies' Creditors Arrangement Act*, 1985, c C-36 ("CCAA"), among other things, appointing KSV Restructuring Inc. ("KSV") as the monitor (the "Monitor") of AlphaBow.

On April [•], 2024, the Court granted an amended and restated initial order (the "ARIO").

On April [•], 2024, the Court granted an order (the "SISP Approval Order") which, among other things, directed and empowered AlphaBow and the Sales Advisor (as defined below), in consultation with the Monitor to prepare and conduct a strategic sales and investment solicitation process ("SISP") to solicit offers for the Business or Property of AlphaBow, in whole or in part, or investments related thereto. Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the ARIO.

The SISP Approval Order and this SISP shall exclusively govern the process for soliciting and selecting bids for the sale of all, substantially all, or one or more portions of AlphaBow's Business or Property, or for the restructuring, recapitalization or refinancing of AlphaBow and AlphaBow's Business. Under the SISP, all qualified interested parties will be provided with an opportunity to participate in the SISP.

This document outlines the SISP, which is comprised principally of three stages: pre-marketing, marketing, and offering/evaluation.

#### **OPPORTUNITY AND SISP SUMMARY**

- 1. The SISP is intended to solicit interest in, and opportunities for a sale of, or investment in, all or part of AlphaBow's Property or Business (the "**Opportunity**"), which primarily consists of oil and gas producing assets and facilities and a carbon capture, utilization and storage facility in Alberta, Canada.
- 2. In order to maximize the number of participants that may have an interest in the Opportunity, the SISP will provide for the solicitation of interest for:
  - (a) the sale of AlphaBow's interests in the Property. In particular, interested parties may submit proposals to acquire all, substantially all or a portion of AlphaBow's Property (a "Sale Proposal"); or

- (b) an investment in the Business, which may include one or more of the following: a restructuring, recapitalization or other form of reorganization of the Business and affairs of AlphaBow as a going concern, together with a plan of compromise or arrangement pursuant to the CCAA (an "**Investment Proposal**").
- 3. Except to the extent otherwise set forth in a definitive sale or investment agreement with a Successful Bidder (as defined below), any Sale Proposal or any Investment Proposal will be on an "as is, where is" basis and without surviving representations or warranties of any kind, nature, or description by the Sales Advisor, the Monitor or AlphaBow, or any of their respective affiliates, agents, advisors or estates, and, in the event of a sale, all of the right, title and interest of AlphaBow in and to the Property to be acquired will be sold free and clear of all pledges, liens, security interests, encumbrances, claims, charges, options, and interests therein and thereon pursuant to Court orders, except as otherwise provided in such Court orders.
- 4. Solicitation of interest for Sale Proposals and Investment Proposals will be on an unpriced basis whereby no set asking price will be stipulated.
- 5. This SISP shall be conducted by the Monitor, with the assistance of Sayer Energy Advisors as sales advisor (the "**Sales Advisor**") in consultation with AlphaBow.
- 6. As described more fully in this SISP, the major stages in the within procedure will be comprised of the following:
  - (a) Pre-Marketing: preparation of all marketing material, assembly of all relevant due diligence material, establishment of an electronic data;
  - (b) Marketing: advertising, contacting potential buyers/investors, responding to requests for information and disseminating marketing material to potential buyers and investors; and
  - (c) Offer Submission and Evaluation: solicitation, receipt of, evaluation and negotiation of offers from potential buyers and investors, as described below.
- 7. The offer submission and evaluation stage of the SISP will be comprised of a two phase offering process: "**Phase 1**" being the submission of letters of intent ("**LOIs**") from qualified bidders, and "**Phase 2**" being the submission of formal binding offers from those parties that submitted LOIs and that have been invited by the Sales Advisor and the Monitor, in consultation with AlphaBow, to participate in Phase 2 (defined below as Phase 1 Qualified Bidders).

#### **KEY CONSIDERATIONS AND CONDITIONS OF BIDS**

8. Due to certain positions which have been taken by the Alberta Energy Regulator (the "AER") with respect AlphaBow and its Business and Property, in assessing all bids submitted under the SISP, the Company and the Sales Advisor, in consultation with Monitor, will be focused on entering into one or more transactions that will result in all assets and liabilities of AlphaBow being transferred or otherwise addressed, with no assets or liabilities remaining with the Orphan Well Association (the "OWA").

- 9. If an Investment Proposal or any Sales Proposal is conditional on the bidder acquiring a certain threshold of assets or assumed liabilities, the bidders must clearly state these conditions and thresholds in the context of their bids.
- 10. In determining whether a bid or bids will be successful, the Sales Advisor and the Monitor, in consultation with AlphaBow, will review each of the bids, together with any potential backstopping bid or bids to determine whether the bid(s), taken as a whole, will meet the criteria of transferring, or otherwise addressing all of the assets and liabilities of AlphaBow, without any such assets or liabilities being transferred to the OWA. The Company and the Sales Advisor, with the consent of the Monitor, reserve the right to accept or reject any bid, or any portion thereof, in order to achieve this overriding objective of the SISP.

#### TIMELINE

11. The Sales Advisor, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow, shall commence the within SISP on or before May 1, 2024 (such time being referred to herein as the "Commencement Date"). As soon as reasonably practicable following the Commencement Date, the Monitor shall publish on its website established with respect to AlphaBow's CCAA proceedings, a timeline of the key milestones set out below setting out the specific dates of the respective milestones. Furthermore, the Sales Advisor shall publish the timeline in the Teaser Letter, referenced below.

Milestone	Deadline
Commencement Date	On or before May 1, 2024
Marketing Stage: Publication of Notice & Sending Teaser Letter to Known Potential Bidders	On or before May 17, 2024
Phase 1 Non-Binding LOI Deadline	June 27, 2024
Phase 2 Binding Bid Deadline	August 22, 2024

12. The following table sets out the key milestones under the SISP:

#### **PRE-MARKETING STAGE**

- 13. Prior to the Commencement Date:
  - (a) the Sales Advisor, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow, will prepare: (i) a process summary (the "Teaser Letter") describing the Opportunity, outlining the process under the SISP and inviting recipients of the Teaser Letter to express their interest pursuant to the SISP; (ii) a non-disclosure agreement with the Monitor and AlphaBow (an "NDA"); and (iii) a confidential Information Memorandum ("CIM"). The Teaser Letter, NDA and CIM shall be in form and substance satisfactory to the Monitor, in consultation with AlphaBow. The CIM will specifically stipulate that the Sales Advisor, the Monitor, AlphaBow and each of their respective advisors make no representation or warranty as to the accuracy or

completeness of the information contained in the CIM, the Data Room (as defined below), or made available pursuant to the SISP or otherwise, except to the extent expressly contemplated in any definitive sale or investment agreement with a Successful Bidder (as defined below) ultimately executed and delivered by AlphaBow and/or the Monitor;

- (b) the Sales Advisor, with the assistance of AlphaBow and the Monitor, will gather and review all required due diligence material to be provided to interested parties and shall establish a secure, electronic data room (the "**Data Room**"), which will be maintained and administered by the Sales Advisor during the SISP; and
- (c) AlphaBow and the Monitor will develop a draft form of LOI ("LOI Form") and a purchase and sale agreement or investment agreement for use during the SISP.

#### MARKETING STAGE

- 14. As soon as reasonably possible after the Commencement Date, the Sales Advisor shall:
  - (a) arrange for a notice of the SISP (and such other relevant information as the Sales Advisor, in consultation with AlphaBow and the Monitor, considers appropriate) (the "Notice") to be published in the BOE Report, the Daily Oil Bulletin [NTD: Consider BOE Report], the website of the Monitor and any other newspaper or journals as the Sales Advisor, in consultation with AlphaBow and the Monitor, considers appropriate, if any; and
  - (b) send the Teaser Letter and NDA to all parties that have approached the Sales Advisor, the Monitor or AlphaBow indicating an interest in the Opportunity; and (ii) local, national and international strategic and financial parties who the Sales Advisor believe may be interested in purchasing all or part of the Business and Property or investing in AlphaBow pursuant to the SISP (collectively, "**Known Potential Bidders**"), and to any other party who responds to the Notice as soon as reasonably practicable after such identification or request, as applicable.
- 15. The Sales Advisor will send the CIM and grant access to the Data Room to those parties who have executed and delivered the NDA to the Sales Advisor as soon as reasonably practicable after such execution and delivery.
- 16. Requests for information and access to the Data Room will be directed to the Sales Advisor, to the attention of the persons listed in Schedule "A" hereto. All printed information shall remain the property of AlphaBow and, if requested by the Sales Advisor, shall be returned without further copies being made and/or destroyed with an acknowledgement that all such material has either been returned and/or destroyed and no electronic information has been retained.
- 17. Any party who expresses a desire to participate in the SISP (a "**Potential Bidder**") must, prior to being given any additional information such as the CIM and access to the Data Room, provide to the Sales Advisor an NDA executed by it, and which shall inure to the benefit of any ultimate Successful Bidder.

18. If a Potential Bidder has delivered the NDA and a Qualified LOI (as defined below) that is satisfactory to the Sales Advisor, acting reasonably, then such Potential Bidder will be deemed to be a "**Phase 1 Qualified Bidder**". No Potential Bidder shall be deemed not to be a Phase 1 Qualified Bidder without the approval of the Monitor.

#### OFFER SUBMISSION AND EVALUATION STAGE

#### Phase 1

#### Due Diligence

19. The Sales Advisor in consultation the Monitor and AlphaBow, and subject to competitive and other business considerations, will afford each Phase 1 Qualified Bidder such access to due diligence materials through the Data Room and information relating to the Property and Business as it deems appropriate. Due diligence access may further include management presentations with participation of the Sales Advisor or the Monitor where appropriate, on-site inspections, and other matters which a Phase 1 Qualified Bidder may reasonably request and to which the Sales Advisor, in its reasonable business judgment, may agree. The Sales Advisor, the Monitor and AlphaBow will each designate a representative to coordinate all reasonable requests for additional information and due diligence access from Phase 1 Qualified Bidders and the manner in which such requests must be communicated. None of the Sales Advisor, the Monitor or AlphaBow will be obligated to furnish any information relating to the Property or Business to any person other than to Phase 1 Qualified Bidders. Further and for the avoidance of doubt, selected due diligence materials may be withheld from certain Phase 1 Qualified Bidders if the Sales Advisor, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow, determines such information to represent proprietary or competitively sensitive information.

#### LOI Submission

- 20. Potential Bidders must rely solely on their own independent review, investigation and/or inspection of all information and of the Property and Business in connection with their participation in the SISP and any transaction they ultimately enter into with AlphaBow.
- 21. A Phase 1 Qualified Bidder who wishes to pursue the Opportunity further must deliver an executed LOI, identifying each specific Property or Business the Phase 1 Qualified Bidder is interested in, to the Sales Advisor at the addresses specified in Schedule "A" hereto (including by email or fax transmission), so as to be received by them not later than 12:00 PM (Calgary time) on or before June 27, 2024 (the "**Phase 1 Bid Deadline**").
- 22. An LOI so submitted will be considered a qualified LOI (a "Qualified LOI") only if:
  - (a) it is submitted on or before the relevant Phase 1 Bid Deadline by a Phase 1 Qualified Bidder;
  - (b) it contains a letter setting forth the identity of the Potential Bidder, the contact information for such Potential Bidder and full disclosure of the direct and indirect principals and direct and indirect beneficial owners of the Potential Bidder

- (c) it contains an indication of whether the Phase 1 Qualified Bidder is making a:
  - (i) Sale Proposal; or
  - (ii) an Investment Proposal;
- (d) in the case of a Sale Proposal, it identifies or contains the following:
  - (i) the purchase price, in Canadian dollars, including details of any liabilities to be assumed by the Phase 1 Qualified Bidder and key assumptions supporting the valuation;
  - (ii) a description of each Property that is expected to be subject to the transaction and any of the Property or obligations for each Property expected to be excluded;
  - (iii) a specific indication of the financial capability, together with evidence of such capability, of the Phase 1 Qualified Bidder and the expected structure and financing of the transaction;
  - (iv) a description of the approvals required for a final and binding offer;
  - (v) all conditions to closing that the Phase 1 Qualified Bidder may wish to impose including any asset and liability thresholds that must be met for the Phase 1 Qualified Bidder to submit a final and binding offer;
  - (vi) an outline of any additional due diligence required to be conducted in order to submit a final and binding offer; and
  - (vii) any other terms or conditions of the Sale Proposal that the Phase 1 Qualified Bidder believes are material to the transaction;
- (e) in the case of an Investment Proposal, it identifies the following:
  - (i) a description of how the Phase 1 Qualified Bidder proposes to structure the proposed investment in the Business;
  - (ii) the aggregate amount of the equity and/or debt investment to be made in the Business or AlphaBow in Canadian dollars;
  - (iii) the underlying assumptions regarding the *pro forma* capital structure;
  - (iv) a specific indication of the sources of capital for the Phase 1 Qualified Bidder and the structure and financing of the transaction;
  - (v) a description of the approvals required for a final and binding offer;

- (vi) all conditions to closing that the Phase 1 Qualified Bidder may wish to impose including any asset and liability thresholds that must be met for the Phase 1 Qualified Bidder to submit a final and binding offer;
- (vii) all conditions to closing that the Phase 1 Qualified Bidder may wish to impose;
- (viii) an outline of any additional due diligence required to be conducted in order to submit a final and binding offer; and
- (ix) any other terms or conditions of the Investment Proposal that the Phase 1 Qualified Bidder believes are material to the transaction;
- (f) in the case of a Sale Proposal, it contains a statement that the Phase 1 Qualified Bidder meets all eligibility requirements of governmental authorities to purchase and accept a transfer of the Property, including without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the eligibility requirements of the AER under *Directive 067*, *Directive 088* and *Manual 023: Licensee Life-Cycle Management*, as the same may be applicable to the Phase 1 Qualified Bidder; and
- (g) in the case of either a Sale Proposal or an Investment Proposal, it contains such other information as reasonably requested by the Sales Advisor or the Monitor from time to time.
- 23. The Sales Advisor, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow, may waive compliance with any one or more of the requirements specified above and deem such non-compliant bids to be a Qualified LOI. For the avoidance of doubt, the completion of any Sale Proposal or Investment Proposal shall be subject to the approval of the Court and the requirement of approval of the Court may not be waived.

#### Preliminary Assessment of Phase 1 Bids and Subsequent Process

- 24. Following the Phase 1 Bid Deadline, the Sales Advisor will assess the Qualified LOIs with respect to the Property or Business in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow. If it is determined by the Sales Advisor that a Phase 1 Qualified Bidder that has submitted a Qualified LOI: (i) has a *bona fide* interest in completing a Sale Proposal or Investment Proposal (as the case may be); and (ii) has the financial capability (based on availability of financing, experience and other considerations) to consummate such a transaction based on the financial information provided; then such Phase 1 Qualified Bidder will be deemed to be a "**Phase 2 Qualified Bidder**", provided that the Sales Advisor may, in its judgment but with the consent of the Monitor, limit the number of Phase 2 Qualified Bidders (and thereby eliminate some Phase 1 Qualified Bidders from the process). Only Phase 2 Qualified Bidders shall be permitted to proceed to Phase 2 of the SISP.
- 25. The Sales Advisor, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow, will prepare a bid process letter for Phase 2 (the "**Bid Process Letter**"), which will include a draft purchase and sale agreement or investment agreement (a "**Draft Purchase/Investment**

**Agreement**") which will be made available in the Data Room, and the Bid Process Letter and will be sent to all Phase 2 Qualified Bidders who are invited to participate in Phase 2.

#### Phase 2: Formal Offers and Selection of Successful Bidder

#### Formal Binding Offers

- 26. Phase 2 Qualified Bidders that wish to make a formal Sale Proposal or an Investment Proposal shall submit to the Sales Advisor a sealed binding offer that complies with all of the following requirements at the addresses specified in Schedule "A" hereto (including by email or fax transmission), so as to be received by the Sales Advisor not later than 12:00 PM (Calgary time) on or before August 22, 2024, or such other date and time as may be modified in the Bid Process Letter (the "**Phase 2 Bid Deadline**"):
  - (a) the bid shall comply with all of the requirements set forth in respect of Phase 1 Qualified LOIs;
  - (b) cash is the preferred form of consideration, but if the bid utilizes other consideration, a description of the material terms of the consideration shall be provided;
  - (c) the bid (either individually or in combination with other bids that make up one bid) is an offer to purchase or make an investment in some or all of the Property or Business on terms and conditions reasonably acceptable to AlphaBow, in consultation with the Monitor and the Sales Advisor;
  - (d) unless otherwise agreed, the bid shall take the form of the Draft Purchase/Investment Agreement (with a blackline showing any changes) and shall include a letter stating that the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder's offer is irrevocable until Court approval of a Successful Bidder (as defined below), provided that if such Phase 2 Qualified Bidder is selected as the Successful Bidder, its offer shall remain irrevocable until the closing of the transaction with such Successful Bidder;
  - (e) the bid includes duly authorized and executed transaction agreements as listed in the Draft Purchase/Investment Agreement; including, but not limited to, the purchase price, investment amount, or a combination thereof and any other key economic terms expressed in Canadian dollars (the "**Purchase Price**"), together with all exhibits and schedules thereto, and the name or names of the ultimate direct or indirect beneficial owner(s) of the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder including their respective percentage interests;
  - (f) to the extent that a bid is conditional upon new or amended agreements being entered into with other parties, or existing agreements terminated, the interested parties shall provide the proposed terms of such terminated, amended or new agreements and identify how such agreements may differ from existing agreements to which AlphaBow may be a party. A Phase 2 Qualified Bidder's willingness to proceed without such conditions and, where such conditions are included in the bid, the likelihood of satisfying such conditions shall be an important factor in evaluating the bid;

- (h) the bid should identify any threshold of assets to be acquired or liabilities to be assumed as a condition to proceeding to close a transaction;
- (i) the bid should not be conditional on the outcome of unperformed due diligence by the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder, apart from, to the extent applicable, the disclosure of due diligence materials that represent proprietary or competitively sensitive information which was withheld in Phase 2 from the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder;
- (j) the bid fully discloses the identity of each entity that will be entering into the transaction or the financing, or that is participating or benefiting from such bid;
- (k) for a Sale Proposal, the bid includes a commitment by the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder to provide a refundable deposit in the amount of not less than 10% of the purchase price offered upon the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder being selected as the Successful Bidder, which shall be paid to "KSV Restructuring Inc. in trust" (the "Deposit"). One half of the Deposit shall be paid to "KSV Restructuring Inc. in trust" upon the submission of the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder's Phase 2 Bid. The second half of the Deposit shall be submitted upon the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder being selected as the Successful Bidder. The Successful Bidder's Deposit shall be applied as against the Purchase Price and all other Deposits submitted by Phase 2 Qualified Bidders who are not selected as the Successful Bidder shall be returned within five (5) business days of obtaining Court approval of the Successful Bid;
- (1) for an Investment Proposal, the bid includes a commitment by the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder to provide a refundable deposit in the amount of not less than 10% of the total new investment contemplated in the bid upon the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder being selected as the Successful Bidder, which shall be paid to "KSV Restructuring Inc. in trust". One half of the Deposit shall be paid to "KSV Restructuring Inc. in trust" upon the submission of the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder's Phase 2 Bid. The second half of the Deposit shall be submitted upon the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder being selected as the Successful Bidder. The Successful Bidder's Deposit shall be applied as against the Purchase Price and all other Deposits submitted by Phase 2 Qualified Bidders who are not selected as the Successful Bidder shall be returned within five (5) business days of obtaining Court approval for the Successful Bid;
- (m) the bid includes acknowledgments and representations of the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder that: (i) it has had an opportunity to conduct any and all due diligence regarding the Property, Business and AlphaBow prior to making its offer (apart from, to the extent applicable, the disclosure of due diligence materials that represent proprietary or competitively sensitive information which was withheld in

proposed transaction;

Phase 2 from the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder); (ii) it has relied solely upon its own independent review, investigation and/or inspection of any documents and/or the Property in making its bid; and (iii) it did not rely upon any written or oral statements, representations, warranties, or guarantees whatsoever made by the Sales Advisor, the Monitor or AlphaBow, whether express, implied, statutory or otherwise, regarding the Business, Property or AlphaBow, or the accuracy or completeness of any information provided in connection therewith, except as expressly stated in the definitive transaction agreement(s) signed by AlphaBow;

- (n) all required corporate approvals of the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder will have been obtained prior to the submission of the bid;
- (o) the bid shall identify any material conditions in favour of the purchaser to be resolved prior to closing the transaction;
- (p) the bid is received by the relevant Phase 2 Bid Deadline; and
- (q) the bid contemplates Court approval.
- 27. Following the Phase 2 Bid Deadline, the Sales Advisor will assess the Phase 2 Bids received with respect to the Property or Business, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow. The Sales Advisor, in consultation with the Monitor will designate the most competitive bids that comply with the foregoing requirements to be "**Phase 2 Qualified Bids**". Only Phase 2 Qualified Bidders whose bids have been designated as Qualified Bids are eligible to become the Successful Bidder(s).
- 28. The Sales Advisor, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow, may waive strict compliance with any one or more of the requirements specified above and deem such non-compliant bids to be a Phase 2 Qualified Bid.
- 29. The Sales Advisor, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow, shall notify each Phase 2 Qualified Bidder in writing as to whether its bid constituted a Phase 2 Qualified Bid within ten (10) business days of the Phase 2 Bid Deadline, or at such later time as the Monitor deems appropriate.
- 30. If the Sales Advisor is not satisfied with the number or terms of the Phase 2 Qualified Bids, the Sales Advisor, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow, may extend the Phase 2 Bid Deadline without Court approval.
- 31. The Sales Advisor with the consent of the Monitor may terminate further participation in the Phase 2 Bid Process by any Qualified Phase 2 Bidder, or modify dates or procedures in this SISP as deemed appropriate or necessary, or terminate the process altogether.
- 32. The Sales Advisor, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow, may aggregate separate bids from unaffiliated Phase 2 Qualified Bidders to create one or more Phase 2 Qualified Bid(s).

#### **Evaluation of Competing Bids**

33. A Phase 2 Qualified Bid will be evaluated based upon several factors, including, without

limitation, items such as the Purchase Price and the net value and form of consideration to be paid pursuant to such bid (including the extent of value available to creditors of AlphaBow), the identity, circumstances and ability of the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder to successfully complete such transactions, including any conditions attached to the bid and the expected feasibility of such conditions, the proposed transaction documents, factors affecting the speed, certainty and value of the transaction, the assets included or excluded from the bid, any related restructuring costs, compliance or eligibility with respect to AER requirements, the likelihood and timing of consummating such transactions, and the ability of the bidder to finance and ultimately consummate the proposed transaction within the timeline established by the Sales Advisor, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow.

#### Selection of Successful Bids

- 34. The Sales Advisor, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow, may review and evaluate any or all Phase 2 Qualified Bids with the applicable Phase 2 Qualified Bidders, and such Phase 2 Qualified Bids may be amended, modified or varied as a result of such negotiations.
- 35. The Sales Advisor, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow, will identify the highest or otherwise best bid or bids, including an assessment of the bid(s) to determine whether the bids, or any combination thereof, will allow AlphaBow to achieve its objective of addressing or disposing of all of its assets and liabilities without any such assets or liabilities remaining with the OWA (each, a "Successful Bid"), and the Phase 2 Qualified Bidder making such Successful Bid (the "Successful Bidder") for any particular Property or the Business in whole or part. The determination of any Successful Bid by the Sales Advisor, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow shall be subject to approval by the Court.
- 36. The Sales Advisor shall notify the Successful Bidder or Successful Bidders, as the case may be, that their bids constituted the Successful Bid or Bids within ten (10) business days of the date they were notified that their bids constituted Phase 2 Qualified Bids, or at such later time as the Sales Advisor deems appropriate, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow.
- 37. AlphaBow shall have no obligation to select a Successful Bid, and the Sales Advisor, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow, reserves the right to reject any or all Phase 2 Qualified Bids. Further, AlphaBow shall have no obligation to enter into a definitive agreement with a Phase 2 Qualified Bidder.

#### Sale Approval Hearing

- 38. AlphaBow shall apply to the Court (the "**Approval Motion**") for orders approving any Successful Bid(s) and authorizing AlphaBow to enter into any and all necessary agreements with respect to the Successful Bid(s).
- 39. The Approval Motion will be held on a date to be scheduled by AlphaBow with the Court, in consultation with the Monitor. The Approval Motion may be adjourned or rescheduled by AlphaBow, in consultation with the Monitor, without further notice, by an announcement of the adjourned date at the Approval Motion or in a notice to the service list prior to the Approval Motion.

40. All the Phase 2 Qualified Bids other than the Successful Bid(s), if any, shall be deemed rejected by the Sales Advisor on and as of the date of approval of the Successful Bid(s) by the Court, but not before, and shall remain open for acceptance until that time.

#### **Deposits**

41. All Deposits shall be retained by the Monitor in a non-interest bearing trust account. If there is a Successful Bid, the Deposit paid by the Successful Bidder whose bid is approved at the Approval Motion shall be applied against the purchase price to be paid by the Successful Bidder upon closing of the approved transaction and will become non-refundable. The Deposits of Phase 2 Qualified Bidders not selected as a Successful Bidder shall be returned to such bidders within five (5) business days of the date upon which the Approval Order is granted by the Court. If there is no Successful Bid, all Deposits shall be returned to the bidders within five (5) business days of the date upon which this SISP terminates in accordance with these procedures.

#### **Confidentiality and Access to Information**

42. Unless otherwise set out herein, participants and prospective participants in the SISP shall not be permitted to receive any information that is not made generally available to all participants relating to the number or identity of Potential Bidders, Phase 1 Qualified Bidders, LOIs, Phase 2 Qualified Bidders, Phase 2 Qualified Bidders, the details of any bids submitted or the details of any confidential discussions or correspondence between the Monitor and such other bidders or Potential Bidders in connection with the SISP. The Monitor may however, with the consent of the applicable participants, disclose such information to other bidders for the purpose of seeking to combine separate bids from Phase 1 Qualified Bidders or Phase 2 Qualified Bidders.

#### Supervision of the SISP

- 43. The Monitor will participate in the SISP in the manner set out in this SISP procedure and the SISP Order and is entitled to receive all information in relation to the SISP.
- 44. This SISP does not, and will not be interpreted to create any contractual or other legal relationship between the Sales Advisor, AlphaBow or the Monitor and any Phase 1 Qualified Bidder, any Phase 2 Qualified Bidder or any other party, other than as specifically set forth in a definitive agreement that may be signed with AlphaBow and approved by the Court.
- 45. Without limiting the preceding paragraph, neither the Sales Advisor nor the Monitor shall have any liability whatsoever to any person or party, including without limitation any Potential Bidder, Phase 1 Qualified Bidder, Phase 2 Qualified Bidder, Successful Bidder, or any other creditor or other stakeholder of AlphaBow, for any act or omission related to the process contemplated by this SISP Procedure, except to the extent such act or omission is the result of gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Monitor or the Sales Advisor. By submitting a bid, each Phase 1 Qualified Bidder, Phase 2 Qualified Bidder, or Successful Bidder shall be deemed to have agreed that it has no claim against the Sales Advisor, AlphaBow or the Monitor for any reason whatsoever, except to the extent such claim is the result of gross negligence or willful misconduct of the Sales Advisor or the Monitor.

- 46. Participants in the SISP are responsible for all costs, expenses and liabilities incurred by them in connection with the submission of any LOI, Phase 2 Bid, due diligence activities, and any further negotiations or other actions whether or not they lead to the consummation of a transaction.
- 47. The Sales Advisor and the Monitor shall have the right, in consultation with AlphaBow, to modify the SISP and the deadlines set out herein (including, without limitation, pursuant to the Bid Process Letter) if, in their reasonable business judgment, such modification will enhance the process or better achieve the objectives of the SISP.
- 48. This SISP shall terminate in the event that: (a) no Phase 2 Qualified Bidder submits a Qualified Phase 2 Bid by the Phase 2 Bid Deadline, and the Phase 2 Bid Deadline is not otherwise extended by the Sales Advisor; or (b) the Sales Agent, in consultation with the Monitor and AlphaBow, determine that none of the Phase 2 Qualified Bids should be accepted as a Successful Bid.
- 49. The approvals required pursuant to the terms of this SISP are in addition to, and not in substitution for, any other approvals required by applicable law in order to implement a Successful Bid.
- 50. At any time during the SISP, the Sales Advisor, the Monitor or AlphaBow may apply to the Court for advice and directions with respect to any aspect of this SISP or the discharge of their respective powers and duties hereunder.
- 51. In the event that there is disagreement as to the interpretation or application of the SISP, the Court will have jurisdiction to hear and resolve such dispute.

#### **SCHEDULE A**

#### **Sales Advisor**

Tom Pavic, CFA President, Sayer Energy Advisors 1620, 54- 5th Avenue SW Calgary, AB T2P 0M2

P: 403.266.6133 F: 403.266.4467 E: TPavic@sayeradvisors.com

Ben Rye, P.Geo. Vice-President, Sayer Energy Advisors 1620, 54- 5th Avenue SW Calgary, AB T2P 0M2

P: 403.266.6133 F: 403.266.4467 E: BRye@sayeradvisors.com